
 

 

Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Monday, 14th August, 2023 
6.00 pm 

Meeting Room A 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
  
1.   Welcome and Apologies  
  
2.   Minutes of the last meeting  
 PLACE OSC June 2023 2 - 4 
  
3.   Declarations of Interest  
 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM 5 
  
4.   Environmental Crime  
 Fly Tipping and Littering Enforcement 6 - 12 
  
5.   Date of Next Meeting  
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Monday 

13th November 2023, where the main agenda item will be: 
 
A report on Highways Infrastructure, with particular focus 
on the roads themselves, ie.road condition/pot-holes, traffic 
lights etc. 
 
 

 

 
 

Date Published: Friday 4th August 2023 
Denise Park, Chief Executive 

 

Public Document Pack



Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3rd July 2023 

PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
Monday 3rd July 2023 

 
 
PRESENT – Councillor Suleman Khonat (in the Chair) Councillors Sidat, Taylor, 
Khan S, Khan Z, Brookfield, Marrow and Russell. 
 
ALSO PRESENT – Executive Member for Growth and Development – Quesir 
Mahmood, Officers – Martin Kelly, Martin Eden, Simon Ross and Phil Llewellyn. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
 
  

1. Welcome and Apologies 
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Jim Smith and Katrina Fielding. 
 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 13th March 2023 
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 13th March 2023 were submitted for    
approval. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13th March 2023 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair, subject to the 
amendment of the following – Brian Taylor to be listed as Chair, not Vice Chair, 
and Councillors Sidat and Brookfield to be included as present at the meeting. 
 

  
3. Declarations of interest 

 
  No Declarations of interest were made by Members of the Committee.  
 

 4. Work Programme 2023/24 
 
The Committee received a presentation from Cllr Quesir Mahmood and 
Martin Kelly on the main priorities and portfolio objectives for Growth & 
Development, which were highlighted as: 
 

• Delivery of Growth & Infrastructure Programmes and Projects 
• Strategy Development & Partnerships 
• Development/Delivery of Councils Asset Review/Strategic Asset 

Management Plan 
• Climate Change 
• Place Marketing 
• Highways 
• Cross Service Opportunities  
• Combined County Authority & Devolution Opportunities. 

 
Members of the Committee made a number of comments relating to the 
presentation, in particular in relation to the importance bus services, and 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3rd July 2023 

residents feedback, with Councillor Mahmood advising of ongoing 
discussions relating to the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) and also 
innovative ticketing, where one ticket would be accepted for a journey using 
different operators. 
 
Councillor Mark Russell indicated that he felt recommendations relating to the 
2019 West Blackburn Transport Assessment had not been implemented, and 
Martin Kelly agreed to discuss this further with Cllr Russell outside of the 
meeting. 
 
The condition of the Borough’s roads was discussed, and the potential for 
utilising a greater share of Government funding in the event of a Combined 
County Authority was highlighted. 
 
In terms of the Town Centre Masterplan, progress was slow as there were 
delays at Government level, but the former Thwaites site would be prioritised, 
and the Skills Campus needed a plan and funding. 
 
HMOs and the negative perception of homeless people were also discussed, 
and in particular, issues with landlords from outside the Borough were 
highlighted, and where there were problems, there was a need for extra 
Licensing powers and use of Article 4 Directions across the Borough. 
 
Martin Eden then delivered a presentation on on the main priorities and 
portfolio objectives for Environment & Operations, which were highlighted as: 
 

• Plant 10,000 trees 
• Implement a tree strategy for the Borough 
• Purchase electric & alternative fuel vehicles and develop fleet strategy 

for alternative fuels 
• Continue to work with residents to increase recycling and to reduce 

food waste. 
• Continue to increase volunteering opportunities for residents of the 

Borough. 
• Undertake regulation and enforcement within the top 25 most fly-

tipped areas of the Borough. 
• Consult on new Selective Licensing Area, and designate if appropriate. 

 
Members then discussed the presentation, in particular, highlighting issues 
relating to fly tipping and dog fouling, with Martin Eden advising of 25 cameras 
that moved around the Borough to catch fly tippers, and the forthcoming 
recruitment of a dog enforcement officer. It was suggested that the Council 
could advise residents of reputable waste disposers who could collect bulky 
waste, rather than people using unlicensed operators who may then fly tip. 
 
Members also discussed issues with old trees that were not dying, and also 
discussed plans for collecting food waste, which under the Environment Act, 
Councils would be responsible for from 2025. 
 
The Chair thanked Cllr Mahmood and Martin Kelly and Martin Eden, who then 
left the meeting. 
 
 
 

Page 3



Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3rd July 2023 

The Committee discussed its Work Programme for 2023/24, and agreed that 
one key issue would be focussed on each meeting. 
 
Cllr Mark Russell stated that as previously agreed, a report on Infrastructure 
should have been submitted to this meeting. The Chair advised that the first 
meeting of each cycle focussed on Portfolio priorities, and that was the key 
focus today. Following discussion, it was agreed that at the next meeting on 
14th August, a report on Highways Infrastructure be submitted, with particular 
focus on the roads themselves, ie.road condition/pot-holes, traffic lights etc. 
 
The second item, for the following meeting, would be Environmental Crime, 
in particular fly-tipping and dog fouling. 
 
The third work programme item, to be discussed at the last meeting of 23/24, 
would be selected at the meeting on 14th August 2023. 
 
Members agreed that rather than presentations, reports should be submitted 
with the agenda, so they could properly consider these ahead of meetings. 
 
 

  RESOLVED – That Work Programme for 2023/24 be agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed: …………………………………………………. 
 
 

Date: ……………………………………………………. 
Chair of the meeting  

at which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 4



   

X:\FORMS\DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM New 2012.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:      PLACE OSC 
 
DATE:                         14th AUGUST 2023 

 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1 
 

Place Overview and Scrutiny Panel – Monday 14th August 2023 

Subject: Fly tipping and littering enforcement 

 

Current service provision 

Littering/dog fouling control 

Littering and dog fouling enforcement is operated under a contract, managed by the 

Public Protection team in Environment and Operations. The first contract for the 

service was let in 2017, with 2 further contracts following until the latest contract 

commenced. The current contractor is District Enforcement, who have 3 staff 

operating the service. The current contract commenced 9th May 2022, with the 

contract running for over a year and has been extended by 1 year, with an option to 

extend for a further year if required. The contractor issues all Fixed Penalty Notices 

(FPNs) for littering and dog fouling on behalf of the Council, with appeals to the 

Service Lead for Public Protection. Failure to pay FPNs can lead to prosecutions, 

which are via the Council’s Legal Services team. 

Fly tipping enforcement 

The Environment team includes for the management and delivery of in-house of fly 

tipping enforcement. The team comprises of an Assistant Manager, who also 

manages the pest and dog control service, 4x Environmental Crime Officers (ECOs) 

and an apprentice. The team investigates, enforces and prosecutes waste offences, 

working closely with the Council’s Legal Services team. There is also a fly tip 

removal team that operates not just removing fly tipping, but also assisting the ECOs 

with investigations at the time of removal, passing evidence along to the ECOs. An 

additional resource provided by the Council from 2022, sees an adopted back street 

clearing team performing the same function as the fly tipping team, but routinely 

visiting adopted back streets on a cyclic basis every 6 to 7 weeks. This team again 

provides evidence to the ECOs for further investigation. 

Littering legislation 

Section 87 and 88 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990) states that if a person 

drops, throws, deposits or leaves anything so as to cause defacement in any land 

open to the air, they could be committing a littering offence. Litter includes all 

smoking, drinking and food related waste including cigarette butts and chewing gum. 

District Enforcement patrol throughout the whole Borough and will issue a Fixed 

Penalty Notice (FPN) to anyone caught littering.  

Who can be fined? Anyone aged 17 years and above who is caught dropping litter 

by an authorised officer. 

Where can you be fined? It is an offence to drop litter anywhere in the open air, 

regardless of who owns the land. This includes rivers, lakes and drainage systems. 

The exceptions to the offence include if the littering is authorised by law or done by 

or with the consent of the owner, occupier or other authority or person having control 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

of the area. There are no excuses for dropping litter. There are over 1,000 litter/dog 

bins within the borough. If there is not a litter/dog bin nearby, individuals should act 

responsibly and take their litter home. 

The current fine level in Blackburn with Darwen BC for littering is £75. 

Nationally, the Fixed Penalty Notice maximum level for littering was £150, but from 

July 2023, this has been raised nationally to £500. Failure to pay will result in 

prosecution, which may lead to a fine of up to £2500. 

Dog Fouling legislation 

If you fail to clean up after your dog, you are committing a criminal offence under the 

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and could be issued with a Fixed 

Penalty Notice (FPN). 

The law allows the Council to give anyone seen not clearing up after their dog an on-

the-spot fine called a fixed penalty notice (FPN). 

The FPN level in Blackburn with Darwen for dog fouling £100, but if you are 

prosecuted in court for dog fouling, this could lead to a potential fine of £1,000 for a 

second dog fouling offence or a failure to pay the Fixed Penalty Notice, a fine up to 

the value of £2,500. 

Dog fouling nationally, the maximum FPN level is £100 

Fly tipping 

Nationally, from the latest DEFRA information, for the 2021/22 year, local authorities 

in England dealt with 1.09 million fly-tipping incidents. Most fly-tipping incidents, says 

the Defra report, are household waste the sum of ‘black bags’ and ‘other’, which in 

2021/22 accounted for 61% of all incidents. The majority of this was household 

waste. 

Fly tipping in the United Kingdom is defined as 'The illegal discarding or deposit of 

waste materials and rubbish products on land or water contrary to the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990.' 

The Environment Agency and local authorities are empowered to deal with fly-tipping 

offences in the United Kingdom. If you get caught illegally dumping garbage on land 

or water, the maximum penalties and fines for fly-tipping depend on the legal system 

used to deal with your prosecution. 

Perpetrators could face a fine up to £50,000 and a prison sentence of 12 months for 

a summary conviction. Conversely, maximum fines are unlimited with prison terms 

up to five years if perpetrators are convicted in a Crown Court. 

 

 

 

Page 7



3 
 

Legislative powers used by Blackburn with Darwen for waste offences and where 

appropriate FPN values used by the Council include: 

Power Description Fines FPN 

S108 
Environment 
Act 1995 

General Investigatory Powers Unlimited No 

S43 Anti Social 
Behaviour Act 
2014 

Power to require abatement of 
persistent or continuing conduct 
detrimental to quality of life of 
others 

£2500 
individuals 
Unlimited - 
Bodies 

£100 

S80 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Power to require abatement of 
nuisance prejudicial to health 

Unlimited No 

S59 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Power to require removal of fly 
tipped waste 

Unlimited No 

S4 Prevention 
of Damage by 
Pests Act 1949 

Power to require removal of matter 
likely to attract/give harbourage 

£1000 No 

S6 Prevention 
of Damage by 
Pests Act 1978 

Power to remove things 
intentionally abandoned on land in 
the open air 

£1000 No 

S47 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Power to specify how commercial 
waste is stored and placed 

 £100 

S78 Public 
Health Act 
1936 

Power to clear land serving two or 
more properties 

None No 

S3 Refuse 
Disposal and 
Amenity Act 
1978 

Power to remove abandoned 
vehicles 

 £200 

S33 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Prohibition on unauthorised or 
harmful deposit, treatment or 
disposal etc. of waste 

Unlimited/Prison £400 

S34(2)(a) 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Take reasonable steps to secure 
waste is transferred to an 
authorised person 

Unlimited £200 

S34 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Storage of waste must be secure Unlimited £300 

Page 8



4 
 

S1 Control of 
Pollution Act 
1989 

Offence of transporting controlled 
waste without a license 

Unlimited £300 

S87 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Offence of dropping and leaving 
(littering) 

£2500 £75 

 

In July 2023, the maximum limits for Fixed Penalty Notices for fly tipping and duty of 

care waste offences has increased (current Blackburn levels in brackets):- 

The maximum amount those caught fly-tipping could be fined will increase from £400 

to £1,000 (£400) 

The maximum amount those who breach their household waste duty of care could 

be fined will increase from £400 to £600 (£200). 

 

Current Performance of services in Blackburn with Darwen 

Littering and Dog Fouling: Number of fixed penalty notices issued since the 

contract began May 2022: 

Littering = 1577 

Dog Fouling = 6 

Payment rate is approximately 65%, worth circa £80,000 

Mode of operation, how they determine areas of work etc: The contractor patrols in 

Blackburn and Darwen town centres, as well as outlying areas. Where specific 

concerns are raised, the Service Lead Public Protection will task the team 

specifically. 

Dog fouling patrols operate in parks, as well as locations passed on by the Service 

Lead Public Protection from intelligence received. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



5 
 

 

 

Fly tipping 

 

 

 

Page 10



6 
 

 

 

Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly tipping and waste offences 

2020/21 FPNs, 67 issued for a value of £14,250 

2021/22 FPNs, 83 issued for a value of £13,400 

2022/23 FPNs, 83 issued for a value of £14,775 

Prosecutions for fly tipping and waste offences 

2020/21 Prosecutions, 122 issued for a value of £18,850 

2021/22 Prosecutions, 115 issued for a value of £44,684 

2022/23 Prosecutions, 123 issued for a value of £45,078 

 

CCTV 

The ECOs also have access to 20 CCTV cameras, which are deployed and moved 

round to act as both a deterrent and also to catch offenders for successful 

enforcement actions, with priority given to sites that receive the most fly tipping 

reports within the borough and where there is a suitable lamp column to attach the 

CCTV system to. The also has a WhatsApp link for residents to forward any CCTV 

and pictures from their own CCTV systems to help us investigate and progress 

prosecutions where possible. The CCTV, when used, is accompanied by signage 

and leaflets, to ensure that we comply with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 

Act 2000. 

 

Overhanging trees on the Highway 

One of the requirements of the Highways Act 1980 is that a public highway should 

be kept clear of obstructions. Trees are living and growing organisms that can grow, 

in time, over a highway and impede the movement of pedestrians and vehicular 

traffic. Specifically, section 154 of the Act gives the highway authority powers to 

require the removal or cutting back of trees, shrubs and hedges that obstruct or 

endanger highway users.  

While no specific guidance is given in the Act, it is generally accepted that the 

minimum clearance should be 2.4m over a footpath and 5.05m (16’ 6”) over a road 

(measured from the centre line). As a guide, these minimum clearances should be 

sufficient to allow a two-metre person with an umbrella up to walk unimpeded along 

a footpath and a double-decker bus to travel along a road without hitting any 

overhanging branches. 

The Council’s Highway and Transportation service is responsible for all adopted 

highway street trees, with the Environment team undertaking work at their 

Page 11



7 
 

instruction. The Highways and Transportation service is also responsible for dealing 

with overhanging trees and shrubs affecting public footpaths and adopted highways 

from private land.  

 

 

Tony Watson 

Head of Environment 

Page 12


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting
	3 Declarations of Interest
	DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN

	4 Environmental Crime

